

Caixia Kan

# Plasmonic Metal Nanostructures

Preparation, Characterization, and Applications



**Plasmonic Metal Nanostructures** 

# **Plasmonic Metal Nanostructures**

Preparation, Characterization, and Applications

Caixia Kan

WILEY VCH

#### Author

#### Prof. Caixia Kan

Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics 29 Yudao Street Qinhuai District Nanjing China 210016

Cover Image: Courtesy of Caixia Kan

All books published by **WILEY-VCH** are carefully produced. Nevertheless, authors, editors, and publisher do not warrant the information contained in these books, including this book, to be free of errors. Readers are advised to keep in mind that statements, data, illustrations, procedural details or other items may inadvertently be inaccurate.

Library of Congress Card No.: applied for

**British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data:** A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

© 2024 WILEY-VCH GmbH, Boschstraße 12, 69469 Weinheim, Germany

All rights reserved (including those of translation into other languages). No part of this book may be reproduced in any form – by photoprinting, microfilm, or any other means – nor transmitted or translated into a machine language without written permission from the publishers. Registered names, trademarks, etc. used in this book, even when not specifically marked as such, are not to be considered unprotected by law.

Print ISBN: 978-3-527-35174-9 ePDF ISBN: 978-3-527-84083-0 ePub ISBN: 978-3-527-84084-7 oBook ISBN: 978-3-527-84085-4

Typesetting: Straive, Chennai, India

# Contents

Preface xi Introduction of This Book xiii

# Part I Fundamental and Latest Development in the Plasmonics 1

۱v

# 1 Theoretical Backgrounds and Advances of Plasmonics *3*

- 1.1 Introduction 3
- 1.2 Drude Model for Free Electron Gas 3
- 1.3 Dielectric Function of the Free Electron Gas 5
- 1.4 Surface Plasmon Polaritons 7
- 1.5 Plasmon at Metal-Vacuum Interface 11
- 1.5.1 Propagation Length 11
- 1.5.2 Propagation Depth (or Skin Depth) 12
- 1.6 Excitation and Detection of SP 13
- 1.6.1 Optical Excitation of SP 13
- 1.6.2 Electrical SPP Excitation 16
- 1.6.3 Localized Surface Plasmon of Nanoparticles 19
- 1.6.4 Other Surface Plasmon Supports 22
- 1.6.5 Detection of Surface Plasmon 23
- 1.7 Surface Plasmon Effects 25
- 1.7.1 Electric Field Enhancement 25
- 1.7.2 Hot Electrons Effect 29
- 1.7.2.1 For New Energy 29
- 1.7.2.2 For Photoelectric Device 32
- 1.7.2.3 For Plasmonic Nanolaser 33
- 1.8 Summary of this Chapter 35 References 35
- 2 Dielectric Modification and Fundamental of Plasmonic Nanostructure *41*
- 2.1 Introduction 41
- 2.2 Drude–Lorentz Model of Metal Nanoparticles 42

- vi Contents
  - 2.3 Dielectric Properties of Complex Nanostructures 44
  - 2.3.1 Maxwell Garnett Effective Medium Theory 44
  - 2.3.2 Drude-Critical Points Model for Dielectric Function of Alloy 46
  - 2.3.3 Effect of Dielectric Function on Properties 49
  - 2.4 Optical Property Analysis of Isolated Nanoparticles 51
  - 2.4.1 Mie Theory for Nanosphere 52
  - 2.4.2 Gan Equation for Optical Properties of Ellipsoidal Particles 53
  - 2.5 Numerical Simulation of Optical Properties 54
  - 2.6 Coupling Nanostructure Assembly with High Sensitivity 60
  - 2.6.1 Coupling Effect of Nanospheres 60
  - 2.6.2 Coupling Effect of Nanoprisms 64
  - 2.6.3 Coupling Effect of Nanocubes 65
  - 2.6.4 Coupling Effect of Nanorods 67
  - 2.6.5 Coupling Effect of Complex Structure 71
  - 2.6.6 Coupling Effect of Multilayer Nanostructure 76
  - 2.7 Conclusion 78 References 79

# 3 Advanced Characterizations for Plasmonic Nanostructures 83

- 3.1 Introduction 83
- 3.2 Optical Property Characterization Technology 84
- 3.2.1 Absorption Spectrometer 85
- 3.2.1.1 Lambert's Law 85
- 3.2.1.2 Spectrometer Device 86
- 3.2.1.3 Application of This Optical Spectrum 87
- 3.2.2 Surface-Enhancement Raman Scattering 89
- 3.2.2.1 History and Principle of Raman Spectroscopy 89
- 3.2.2.2 Research Progress of SERS 92
- 3.2.2.3 The Enhancement Mechanism of SERS 96
- 3.2.2.4 Advantages and Applications of SERS 98
- 3.3 Electron Microscopy 100
- 3.3.1 Transmission Electron Microscope 102
- 3.3.2 Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) 105
- 3.3.3 Combination TEM and SEM 109
- 3.3.3.1 Aberration Correction 109
- 3.3.3.2 STEM 110
- 3.3.4 In-Situ Electron Microscope 113
- 3.3.5 STM Induce Luminescence at Nanoscale 118
- 3.4 Conclusion 122 References 123

# Part II Precise Preparation of Plasmonic Nanostructures 129

- 4 Core-Shell and Porous Nanorods with Hot Spots 131
- 4.1 Introduction 131

- 4.2 One-Dimensional Au Nanostructures 132
- 4.2.1 Precise Growth of Au NRs 134
- 4.2.2 Precise Growth of Au Nanobipyramids 137
- 4.3 Core–Shell Nanostructures 139
- 4.3.1 Core–Shell Nanostructures Based on Au NRs 141
- 4.3.1.1 Au@Ag Core-Shell Nanocuboids 141
- 4.3.1.2 Au@AuAg Dumbbell Nanostructures 143
- 4.3.1.3 (Au@Ag NR)@SiO<sub>2</sub> 145
- 4.3.2 Core–Shell Nanorods Based on Au NBPs 149
- 4.3.2.1 Au NBP@Ag Core-Shell Nanostructures 149
- 4.3.2.2 Au NBP@AuAg Core-Shell Nanostructures 152
- 4.4 Alloy Au/Ag Nanorods 156
- 4.4.1 Co-Reduction Method 157
- 4.4.2 Thermal Annealing Method 158
- 4.5 Porous Nanorods 164
- 4.5.1 Porous AuAg NRs 164
- 4.5.2 Chemical Stability of P-AuAg NRs 168
- 4.6 Yolk–Shell Nanostructures 170
- 4.6.1 Hard-Templating Synthesis 171
- 4.6.2 Soft-Template Synthesis 173
- 4.6.3 Self-Template Synthesis 174
- 4.6.4 Multiple Step Methods 174
- 4.7 Conclusion and Remarks 175 References 176

#### 5 Nanowires for Conductive Films and Electromagnetic Shielding 185

- 5.1 Introduction 185
- 5.2 One-Dimensional Metal Nanowires 187
- 5.2.1 Ag Nanowires 187
- 5.2.1.1 Synthesis Approaches 188
- 5.2.1.2 Growth Mechanism 190
- 5.2.1.3 Overgrowth 192
- 5.2.2 Cu Nanowires 194
- 5.2.2.1 Synthesis Approaches 194
- 5.2.2.2 Growth Mechanism 197
- 5.2.2.3 Overgrowth 199
- 5.2.3 Ultrathin Au Nanowires 201
- 5.2.3.1 Structure of Au UNWs 202
- 5.2.3.2 Critical Size Effect 203
- 5.3 Conductive Films 204
- 5.3.1 Preparation Approach 206
- 5.3.2 Stability of Cu Nanowire Film 208
- 5.3.3 Applications of NWs-based Film 210
- 5.3.3.1 Conductivity Performance 210
- 5.3.3.2 Electromagnetic Shielding 213
- 5.3.3.3 NIR Temperature Control 216

| viii | Contents |
|------|----------|
|      |          |

| 5.4     | Conclusion and Remarks 219                                 |
|---------|--|
|         | References 220   |
|         |  |
| 6       | Normal and Novel Nanoplates for Understanding Growth       |
|         | Mechanism 225  |
| 6.1     | Introduction 225   |
| 6.2     | General Considerations for fcc Nanoplates 227              |
| 6.2.1   | Synthetic Methodologies for Au and Ag Nanoplates 228       |
| 6.2.1.1 | Seed-Mediated Growth 229                                   |
| 6.2.1.2 | Polyol Process 231   |
| 6.2.1.3 | Hydrothermal and Solvo-Thermal Approach 232                |
| 6.2.1.4 | Photochemical Synthesis 233                                |
| 6.2.2   | Growth Mechanisms for Au and Ag Nanoplates 235             |
| 6.2.2.1 | Au Nanoplates 235  |
| 6.2.2.2 | Ag Nanoplates 242  |
| 6.2.3   | Optical Properties of Nanoplates 248                       |
| 6.2.4   | Cu Nanoplates with Different Size 249                      |
| 6.3     | Au Nanoplates with Novel and Well-Defined Shapes 251       |
| 6.3.1   | Growth Conditions of the Novel Au Nanoplates 252           |
| 6.3.2   | Growth Mechanism of the Novel and Well-Defined Au          |
|         | Nanoplates 255   |
| 6.4     | Summary of this Chapter 261                                |
|         | References 261   |
| 7       | Hollow and Open Nanostructures with Enhanced Activity 267  |
| 7.1     | Introduction 267   |
| 7.2     | Hollow Nanostructures 269                                  |
| 7.2.1   | Synthetic Approaches 270                                   |
| 7.2.1.1 | Selected Carving of Solid Nanostructures 270               |
| 7.2.1.2 | Selected Deposition of a Different Metal on a Template 270 |
| 7.2.1.3 | Galvanic Replacement 271                                   |
| 7.2.1.4 | Combining the Reduction and Galvanic Replacement Reactions |
| 7.2.1.5 | Hollow Nanostructure-Directed Growth 273                   |
| 7.2.2   | Typical Hollow Nanostructures 273                          |
| 7.2.2.1 | Ag Nanostructures-Directed Hollow Nanostructures 273       |
| 7.2.2.2 | Pd Nanostructures-Directed Hollow Nanostructures 274       |
| 7.2.2.3 | Cu Nanostructures-Directed Hollow Nanostructures 276       |
| 7.3     | Open Nanostructures 278                                    |
| 7.3.1   | Synthetic Approach 278                                     |
| 7.3.2   | Au Nanosphere-Embedded Open Nanostructures 278             |
| 7.3.3   | Au NR-Embedded Open Nanostructures 280                     |
| 7.3.4   | Au Nanobipyramid-Embedded Open Nanostructures 280          |
| 7.3.4.1 | Au Nanobipyramid-Embedded Nanoframes 282                   |
| 7.3.4.2 | Au Nanobipyramid-Embedded Nanocages 284                    |
| 7.3.4.3 | Synthesis of Pd Nanorod Arrays on Au Nanoframes 286        |

272

# viii

#### Contents ix

- 7.3.5 Deposited Mechanism of Au Atoms on Ag Nanostructures 288
- 7.3.5.1 Facet Selectivity 288
- 7.3.5.2 pH of the System 289
- 7.4 Properties of Au NBP-Embedded Nanostructures 293
- 7.4.1 Optical Properties 293
- 7.4.1.1 Hollow Nanostructures 293
- 7.4.1.2 Au Nanobipyramid-Embedded Nanoframes 296
- 7.5 Conclusion and Remarks 299 References 300

## 8 Metal-Semiconductor Nanocomposite 305

- 8.1 Introduction 305
- 8.2 Metal Decorated Semiconductor 306
- 8.2.1 Metal-Oxide Semiconductor 306
- 8.2.2 Metal-Perovskite Semiconductor 311
- 8.2.3 Metal-Perovskite Quantum Dots 314
- 8.2.4 Metal-Two-Dimensional (2D) Materials 317
- 8.3 Core–Shell Structure and Properties Modulation 321
- 8.3.1 Mesoporous SiO<sub>2</sub> Coating Metals for Molecular Delivery 321
- 8.3.2 Photocatalytic Property of TiO<sub>2</sub> Coating Metal 323
- 8.4 Conclusion 325
  - References 326

# Part III Applications of Plasmonic Nanostructures 331

# 9 Hot Electron Effect on Optoelectronic Device 333

- 9.1 Introduction 333
- 9.2 Light-Emitting Device and Modulation 334
- 9.2.1 Antenna-Coupled Light Emission Based on Hot Electron 334
- 9.2.2 Hot-Electron Intraband Emission 340
- 9.3 Hot-Electron Transfer Induced by Plasmon 341
- 9.3.1 Light Emission Enhanced by Hot-Electron 345
- 9.3.2 Plasmon Enhanced ZnO:Ga MW Light Source 346
- 9.3.3 Other Application for Light Modulation 351
- 9.4 Hot-Electron Photodetection 353
- 9.4.1 Traditional Schottky Barrier-Based Photodetection 353
- 9.4.2 Photodetection Based on Metamaterials 354
- 9.4.3 Photodetection Based on Graphene 356
- 9.4.4 Planar Hot-Electron Photodetection 359
- 9.4.5 Photodetection Based on Optical Antennas 361
- 9.4.6 Other Structures for Hot Electron Photodetection 363
- 9.5 Conclusion 366
  - References 366

**x** Contents

#### 10 Applications in Catalysis and Energy 371

- 10.1 Introduction 371
- 10.2 Electrocatalysis 372
- 10.2.1 Key Parameters of Structure Influenced Electrocatalysis 373
- 10.2.1.1 Size Effects 373
- 10.2.1.2 Crystalline Facets 374
- 10.2.1.3 Composition Effects 375
- 10.2.2 Types of Electrocatalysis 377
- 10.2.2.1 Oxygen Reduction Reaction 377
- 10.2.2.2 Carbon Dioxide Reduction 381
- 10.2.2.3 Ethanol Oxidation 383
- 10.2.3 Key Performance Indicator in Electrocatalysis 384
- 10.2.3.1 Over-Potential 385
- 10.2.3.2 Electrochemical Surface Area 386
- 10.2.3.3 Tafel-Slope 387
- 10.3 Photocatalysis 388
- 10.3.1 Plasmon-Induced Hot-Electron Transfer 389
- Types of Photocatalysis 392 10.3.2
- 10.3.2.1 Photocatalytic Decomposition of Organic Compounds 392
- 10.3.2.2 Plasmon-Mediated Reaction of Small Nonpolar Molecules 394
- Thermal and Nonthermal Effects in Plasmon-Enhanced 10.3.3 Catalysis 396
- 10.4 Solar Vapor Generation 398
- Plasmon-Enhanced Absorption for Solar Evaporation 398 10.4.1
- 10.4.2 Heat Localization for Solar Evaporation 402
- 10.5 Conclusions and Outlook 404 References 405

#### 11 **Applications in SERS and Sensor** 411

- 11.1 Introduction 411
- Typical SERS Substrates 412 11.2
- 11.2.1 Edge and Tip Hot Spot 413
- 11.2.2 Nanocavity and Porous Nanostructure 417
- 11.2.3 Coupled Nanostructure (Nanospheres Nanocube) 420
- 11.2.4 Other SERS Substrates 421
- 11.3 SERS for Detection and Sensor 424
- 11.3.1 SERS for a Molecular Vibration "Fingerprint" 425
- 11.3.2 Real-Time Detection of Catalytic Reaction 426
- 11.3.3 Other Catalytic Reaction 430
- 11.3.4 Plasmon Sensing 430
- 11.4 Conclusion and Outlook 433 References 434

**Index** 441

# Preface

In nanophotonics, plasmonics are primarily concerned with the manipulation of light at the nanoscale based on the properties of propagating and localized surface plasmons. Plasmons can turn impossibility into reality through modulating the energy flow, trapping light, and injecting hot electrons for semiconductors. Rich phenomena related to plasmonics have inspired practical uses in many technologies. You may find out why colloidal gold is more precious than bulk pretty gold. You will understand that nanogold does not glitter but that its future looks bright.

This book is mainly focused on noble metal nanostructures. Nanometer-sized particles have existed more than 15 centuries, decorated in historical art of the Lycurgus glass cup, although people could not recognize them at that time. Mie's electromagnetic theory, derived from Maxwell's equations 100 years ago, can be applied to explain the color of colloidal metals. The term plasmon was initially proposed by Pines and Bohm in 1952. After a period of tepid development, plasmonics got a mighty rebirth after the demonstration of surface-enhanced Raman scatting (SERS) in the 1990s. As a "hot" academic direction, plasmonics has expanded and penetrated into various interdisciplinary research fields in the past two decades, involving materials science, optoelectronics, analytical chemistry, energy, and biomedicine. For the methodology and material fabrication, the advanced characterization, precise growth, and tunable properties of plasmonic metal nanostructures have also attracted tremendous attention.

There are many outdated and latest reviews about the precise preparation, characterization, and application of plasmonic nanostructures. To contribute to plasmonics, we need many references to go beyond our research work. I'm extremely grateful to all the members of our group for their contribution to the chapters of this book One striking feature of the book is that more than half of the chapters come from our recent research work.

Plasmonic nanostructures provide the fundamental basis and practical device for rapid sensing and detection of chemical and biological objects, such as colloidal gold, which is applied in pregnancy tests in family planning and the 2019 novel coronavirus infection. Many of the techniques and concepts described in this book will come true in the near future. Ideally, readers will be inspired to improve the methods described here or even to develop fundamentally new methods.

# xii Preface

This book was compiled with a lot of newly published references and books. There are inevitably some improper descriptions and errors; any criticism and corrections are welcome.

Basely, Jun. 2023 Nanjing Caixia Kan

# **Introduction of This Book**

L

# I.1 Human Beings Never Stop Exploring Light

As an important branch of physics, optics is an important foundation for the development of science and technology. According to the historical records in the ancient Chinese book, Mozi did the first small hole imaging experiment about 2500 years ago and explained the inverted standing image using the linear propagation of light, as indicated by Figure I.1 for the concept map.

Throughout the history of the Nobel Prize over one hundred years, there have been more than 40 achievements, about 40% of physics Awards, related directly or indirectly to light. Since the 1960s, the development of laser technology has brought great changes to industries such as industry and medical treatment. Optics brings new development opportunities to other fields. Particularly, two Nobel Prizes in chemistry (1999 and 2014) are also related to optics. They are breakthrough contributions of femtosecond spectroscopy used in chemical reactions and super-resolution optical microscopes.

According to the diffraction of light in Optics, we know that the resolution of optical instruments is dependent on the size of the circular screen and circular hole. When the focal length of the lens and the size of the lens are in the same order, the energy of Airy spot produced by parallel light diffracted by the convex lens is focused on the size equivalent to wavelength scale, let alone the fact that the focal length of the lens is usually larger than the size of the lens. Therefore, in the field of optical imaging, the diffraction limit of light limits the size of the focusing region when we focus the light field with a convex lens, which in turn limits the imaging accuracy and resolution of optical microscopy.

How can we improve the resolution of imaging? There are two extreme directions, radio telescope and electron microscope, in improving the imaging resolution from the Optics principles. They are now being used respectively to observe distant stars and study the structure of tiny substances such as viruses and atoms. Microscope and telescope are two expensive imaging technologies, enabling us to know the world to the boundless large and infinitesimal region.

In the Nano Era, nanotechnology has penetrated many fields of national economic and social development. With the development of electron microscopy and



Figure I.1 Concept map for the linear propagation of light through the small hole.

micromachining, understanding of the material properties and device construction are also in the advance of micro direction. Internationally, a series of basic research projects and major engineering plans have been carried out in the design and development of new photoelectric devices with high performance and high integration. With the development of nano-optics and optoelectronics, significant progress has been made on the nanometer-sized devices with the assistance of electron microscopy and micromachining. At the same time, the development of high-performance micro devices also depends on the preparation of new functional structures and modification of existing materials. Nowadays, materials with desired properties are in great demand, and they are more or less related to the optical properties of materials in small sizes. For example, information and data storage require the medium to meet larger storage density and higher transmission speed. In the biomedicine field, it is required that bacteria and viruses can be quickly detected with high efficiency. And drug molecules can load and release intelligently under irradiation. In terms of energy, we should make full use of solar radiation as much as possible and effectively produce new clean energy sources.

What new effects and phenomena will be discovered during the interaction between light and matter or materials on the microscopic scale? Here, we will start the story of the interaction between light and matter from the color of metals in different sizes.

# I.2 Charming Metal Color

Do you know the color of gold (Au)? Yes, of course, we do know the glitter of BRICs wealth, as shown in Figure I.2. We are very familiar with some metals with specific colors, such as golden gold and silvery silver (Ag). Can you imagine the Au BRICs are the same materials as the red colloidal matter dispersed in the inserted two flasks? Do you believe the Ag coin is the same as the black powder on the plate? Moreover, it is known that the row of colored dispersions are the Au/Ag mixing particles of various ratios. Why do the metals present so many puzzling colors?



**Figure 1.2** Bulk Au, Ag and their nanometer-sized materials in colloidal states. Source: The colloid product is from the website: Zhongke Keyou/https://www.zhongkekeyou.cn//last accessed July 14, 2023.

The optical properties of materials are related to the basic principles of solid-state physics, including the energy band structure inter- and intra-band transition. Here, we briefly describe the color of the bulk metals. There are a large number of electrons that can move freely in metals, forming an electron sea. The collective electrons, titled plasma, respond to the electromagnetic field, resulting in a plasma frequency far greater than that of visible light. Therefore, bulk metals can reflect visible light and form metallic luster. From the view of energy band theory, metals are zero band gaps due to the overlap of valence and conduction bands. The electrons excited by light absorption jump to higher unoccupied energy levels above the Fermi surface, generating photocurrent, which rapidly discharges to emit photons of the same wavelength. As a result, the absorbed light is immediately emitted to the metal surface. That is why a thin metal coating has high reflection. Due to the special electron arrangement of d-orbit relative to the outer s-orbit for Au and Cu metals, they can selectively absorb green light, exhibiting golden and red colors.

As for the metals in small nanometer sizes, their physical and chemical properties are different from those of the bulk metals and atomic states. The photoelectric characteristics can be described by the property of the dispersive medium, absorbing and scattering electromagnetic waves of specific bands. Therefore, different colors can be achieved if they strongly absorb specific visible light.

There is a legendary story about one magic Lycurgus cup collected in the British Museum from ancient Rome related to the Au and Ag nanoparticles. Actually, the history of Au nanoparticles can be dated back to the sixteenth century. It is said that Paracelsus (1493–1541) a Swiss chemist, prepared "drinking gold" to treat mental illness. Then, in 1857, Faraday (1791–1867), a British scientist, studied the wonderful color of ultrathin gold leaf under light and also discovered that colorless liquid turned to red when extremely thin Au tablets were dispersed in water. As an experimental physicist, Faraday did many experiments to reduce gold chloride precursor solution with phosphorus and obtain ruby-colored liquid. In the case of the matter state in a colored liquid, he found a clear beam through the liquid by irradiating the liquid with a beam of light. This effect is known as the Dindal phenomenon for colloids with light irradiation, which is an experimental method

#### xvi | I Introduction of This Book

for directly distinguishing colloids from solution. Then, 50 years later, the scattering theory of light by small particles was established by Mie by solving Maxwell's equations. The color of Au nanoparticles colloid is theoretically explained by low reflection and strong absorption for light in different visible bands due to the dielectric properties of nanometer-sized metals. With the development of colloidal chemistry and optical characterization technology, it is well known that the response wavelength and intensity of particles to light are closely related to their morphology, size, composition, aggregation state, and environmental medium. You can achieve various colorful metal nanoparticle colloids.

# **I.3 Natural Development of Plasmonics**

Unlike conventional optics, plasmonics enables unrivaled concentration of optical energy well beyond the diffraction limit of light. The physical mechanism behind this striking functionality is the excitation of surface plasmon polaritons. Along with the ongoing efforts and development of scientific technologies, it is important to find and synthesize better plasmonic materials. Another strategy relies on hybrid photonic-plasmonic devices by coupling plasmonic nanostructures to resonant optical elements. It is confirmed that nanostructures and newly developed plasmonics are two effective methods for light diffraction limitation. Plasmonics is a scientific branch of photonics involving the study of the localization, propagation and guidance of surface plasmons to manipulate light in desired structures of different dimensions. For the nanometer-sized metals, such as Au, Ag, Cu, and Al, they are also titled "plasmonic metals" in many reports. Surface plasmons can realize a series of unique optical properties. Based on the resonance effect of surface plasmon, the electromagnetic field can be localized in the subwavelength scale, forming a booming new field in nanophotonics. It is widely studied and applied in the fields of information transmission, optical sensing, photoelectric detection, display and so on. It is highly evaluated that "Nanogold does not glitter, but its future looks bright."

Surface plasmon involves conducting surface plasmon and local surface plasmon. Their properties are both closely related to materials, in which the concentration of free electrons (carrier of semiconductor), mobility and the damping by interband transition are three main factors. Although conducting surface plasmon can be used to fabricate novel subwavelength waveguides, the transverse propagation distance is not only determined by the electron's Ohmic loss, but also limited by the dispersive property. It cannot be directly excited by light incident on the metal surface because of wave vector mismatch. In order to excite the surface plasmon, additional structures or devices must be applied to achieve the wave vector matching conditions.

Compared with conducting surface plasmon, it is relatively easy to excite the localized surface plasmon of metal nanostructures. In fact, we know that a convex lens can focus sunlight for local heating. Similarly, if the light energy is focused on a scale much smaller than the wavelength, it can not only produce a strong field but also greatly improve the resolution of an optical microscope. On the other hand, this localization can significantly enhance the interaction between light and matter,



Figure 1.3 Cognition attitude towards the plasmonics field.

which is similar to the nonlinear effect of macro media under laser irradiation. The nonlinear optical effect of strong field will induce many unique physicochemical properties. How do we further focus the light field in the microscopic size? Surface plasmon provides an effective solution.

Localized surface plasmonic nanostructures can efficiently collect light propagating in free space and converge it to nanoscale hotspots in the near field region, enabling efficient excitation of molecules. Conversely, spectra information about molecules in the hotspots can be broadcast to far fields. This process is accompanied by the enhancement of light absorption, radiation, scattering, light force resonance migration and photo-thermal effects. The rich phenomena associated with localized surface plasmonic nanostructures have resulted in a series of applications in many fields. At the same time, the complexity of its behavior also brings challenges to physics. Thus, confronting this reality spurred many new directions in the field of plasmonics; research on plasmonics involves several development stages, like the Kubler-Ross grief cycle.

# I.4 About This Book

The book is compiled in a combination of teaching work with the research of the authors' group in the past two decades. Based on the plasmonic metal nanostructures, the optical effects of plasmon, precise preparation, properties, and applications of different plasmonic nanostructures will be presented. We first arrange the progress in surface plasmon physics to understand the common problems of plasmon nanostructures and updated characterization technologies.

#### xviii | I Introduction of This Book

The second feature of this book focused on the frontier progress in plasmonics with emphasis on the structure-dependent performance and applications in photoelectron, sensor and energy issues Chapter 9 highlights the application of the plasmon hot electron effect in semiconductor micro and nanodevices that were carried out in our research group in recent years.

There are many physical laws or mechanisms to be revealed in the optoelectronic research of metal nanomaterials. So far, there is no reliable physical explanation for many problems and effects in the complex optical response and interaction in the nanometer-size region. The observed significant enhancement and modulation processes of various transitions under a strong light field need to be further discussed comprehensively and systematically.

Some of the chapters were collaborated by the members from author's research group. Prof. Shuiyan Cao collaborated Chapter 3. Chapter 4 was co-authored by Dr. Yuan Ni, Dr. Shanlin Ke, and Prof. Haiying Xu. Prof. Xingzhong Zhu and Dr. Juan Xu completed Chapter 5 and Chapter 7. Dr. Changshun Wang collaborated Chapter 6. Dr. Tingcha Wei collaborated Chapter 8. Prof. Junfeng Lu contributed to Chapter 9. Chapter 10 and Chapter 11 were collaborated by Dr. Yuan Ni and Dr. Juan Xu.

In the process of editing this book, a large number of references and literature have been cited. We only list the main references and books with great thanks. With the never-ending research proceeding, some viewpoint descriptions and conclusions also need to be revised. Thanks to the readers. We apologize for errors and would be thankful for suggestions and corrections if any. Part I

Fundamental and Latest Development in the Plasmonics

The field of nanoplasmonics is young but rich in phenomena that have inspired practical uses in physics, biomedicine, environmental monitoring, and national security

# 1.1 Introduction

When light irradiates on a solid materials, two kinds of electrons excitation will be formed in the materials. One is electron-hole pair excitation, which is called exciton. The other is the collective oscillation of electrons, which is known as plasmon. In physics, plasmon is a quantum of plasma oscillation that can be considered as a quasiparticle. Thus, plasmons are collective (a discrete number) oscillations of the free electron gas density [1, 2]. As a new type of exciton formed by the interaction between light and condensed matter, plasmon-related topic has become focus research in the frontier fields of micro-nano photonics. Ideally, plasmon is easy to excite without decay. However, all the materials exist in a certain medium environment, particularly for the low dimensional structure with rich surface and interfaces. When the dimensions of materials is comparable to the mean path of free electrons, Landau damping becomes the dominant loss source in plasmonics.

For the well-known metals, such as gold (Au) and silver (Ag), plasmons of these metals have significant spatial confinement and propagation loss due to the strong Landau damping effect and the scattering between plasmon and phonon [3]. In this chapter, some basic theory and experimental advances about plasmon will be presented, involving an overview of plasmon, dielectric function, propagation behavior, excitation and applications of surface plasmon.

# 1.2 Drude Model for Free Electron Gas

As one of the most basic models of solid physics, Drude (Drude-Lorentz) model described that the electrons in the metal are free around the fixed ion solid and

dispersed in the whole space of the metal, forming the so-called free electron gas [4]. The physical significance of the excitation at  $\omega_p$  can be understood by considering the collective longitudinal oscillation of the conduction electron gas versus the fixed positive background of the ion cores in a plasma slab. To visualize a plasmon oscillation, it can be imagined that a metal was placed in an external electric field. A collective displacement of the electron cloud by a distance *x* leads to a surface charge density  $\sigma = \pm n_e ex$  at the slab boundaries ( $n_e$  is number density of electrons). This establishes a homogeneous electric field *E*. Thus, the displaced electrons experience a restoring force, and their movement can be described by the equation of Newtonian motion. If the electric field is removed, electrons oscillate back and forth at the plasma frequency until the energy is lost in some kind of resistance or damping. Inserting the expression for the electric field, we get the motion function ( $\epsilon_0$  is electric permittivity or dielectric constant of vacuum).

$$m\ddot{\mathbf{x}} = -e\mathbf{E} = -n_e e^{2\mathbf{x}} /_{\varepsilon_0} \tag{1.1}$$

Equation (1.1) can also be expressed by  $\ddot{\mathbf{x}} + \frac{n_e e^2}{m\epsilon_0} \mathbf{x} = 0$ , in which plasmon vibrates at the same plasma frequency  $(\omega_p)$  with  $\omega_p^2 = \frac{n_e e^2}{m\epsilon_0}$ .  $\omega_p$  is the plasma frequency of bulk materials. It exists in metals, semiconductors and insulators. But it cannot be excited nor can be observed by transverse light wave.

The plasma frequency  $\omega_p$  can thus be recognized as the natural frequency of a free oscillation of the electron sea. The quanta of these charge oscillations are called plasmons (or volume plasmons) to distinguish them from surface and localized plasmons, which will be discussed in the next part. For most metals, the  $\omega_p$  is in the ultraviolet regime ( $\sim 10^{16}$  Hz), depending on details of the electrons density ( $n_e$ ) and band structure. Light with frequencies less than  $\omega_p$  will be reflected by the metals because the electrons in the metals screen the electric field of the light. If the light with frequencies above  $\omega_p$ , the light will be transmitted through the metals because the electrons in the metals cannot respond fast enough to screen it. For most metals, the  $\omega_p$  is in the ultraviolet region, making them shiny (reflective) in the visible range. Some metals, such as Cu and Au, have electronic interband transitions in the visible range, whereby specific light energies (colors) are absorbed, yielding their distinct color.

Due to the longitudinal nature of the excitation, volume plasmons do not couple to transverse electromagnetic waves. Plasmons can only be observed when high-speed electrons pass through a metal film or photons are reflected on the surface of the film. Another consequence is that their decay occurs only via energy transfer to single electrons, a process known as Landau damping.

Although Drude model is one classical free electron theory with Boltzmann distribution law under four approximations of independent electron, free electron, collision hypothesis and relaxation time, it can be well applied to explain the physical mechanism of surface plasmon and many experimental phenomena. Then the revised Drude-Sommerfeld model was proposed by taking Fermi-Dirac distribution law of quantum mechanics into Drude model.

# 1.3 Dielectric Function of the Free Electron Gas

For the materials in bulk, film or low dimensions, dielectric function is one important parameter in describing the photoelectronic properties of these structures. For some of the noble metals, interband effects already start to occur for energies of 1 eV. As examples, the real part ( $\varepsilon_r$ ) and the imaginary part ( $\varepsilon_i$ ) of the dielectric function for Au and Ag and Drude model fits to the data [5]. Clearly, this model is not adequate for describing either  $\varepsilon_r$  or  $\varepsilon_i$  at high frequencies. For the case of Au, its validity breaks down at the boundary between the near-infrared and the visible region.

With introduction of damping coefficient ( $\gamma$ ), electron movement under the irradiation of electric field ( $\omega$ ) can be described by the equation of motion:

$$m\ddot{\boldsymbol{x}} + m\gamma\dot{\boldsymbol{x}} = -e\boldsymbol{E} \tag{1.2}$$

$$\mathbf{x} = \frac{e}{m(\omega^2 + i\gamma\omega)} E(t) \tag{1.3}$$

According to the polarization of dielectric  $D = \epsilon_0 (1 + \chi)E = \epsilon_0 \epsilon E$ , the polarization can be achieved.

$$\boldsymbol{P} = -n_{\rm e} \boldsymbol{e} \boldsymbol{x} = \chi \mathbf{E} = -\frac{n_{\rm e} \boldsymbol{e}^2}{m(\omega^2 + i\gamma\omega)} \boldsymbol{E}(t) \tag{1.4}$$

**P** describes the electric dipole moment per unit volume inside the material, caused by the alignment of microscopic dipoles with the electric field. The linear relationship between **D** and **E** is often implicitly defined using the dielectric susceptibility  $\chi$ , particularly in quantum mechanical treatments of the optical response. The linear relationship between **D** and **E** via:

$$\boldsymbol{D} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0 (1 + \boldsymbol{\chi}) \boldsymbol{E} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0 \left( 1 - \frac{\omega_p^2}{\omega^2 + i\gamma\omega} \right) \boldsymbol{E}(t)$$
(1.5)

Here the dielectric property as a function of frequency can be described as:

$$\varepsilon(\omega) = 1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{\omega^2 + i\gamma\omega} \tag{1.6}$$

Then we can get real and imaginary parts of dielectric functions  $\varepsilon_{\rm r}(\omega) = 1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{\omega^{2}+\gamma^2}$ ,  $\varepsilon_{\rm i}(\omega) = \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2 \gamma}{\omega(\omega^2+\gamma^2)}$ . Therefore, the refractive index of electrolyte is expressed in the form of  $\tilde{N} = n + ik$ . Here, *n* is refractive index coefficient, indicating the permittivity  $\varepsilon_{\rm r} = n^2 - k^2$ . *k* is extinction coefficient related to the conductivity of the medium  $(2nk = \sigma/\omega\varepsilon_0)$ . *k* presents the material loss during the relaxation (or Landau damping), in which the polarization cannot keep up with the change of external high-frequency electric field. Under the conditions that  $\omega \gg \gamma$  or weak damping  $\gamma = 0$ , Eq. (1.6) can be written:

$$\varepsilon(\omega) = 1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{\omega^2} \tag{1.7}$$

It can be taken as the dielectric function of the undamped free electron plasma.  $\gamma > 0$  leads to damping of transmitted wave.

In general,  $\varepsilon(\omega) = \varepsilon_r(\omega) + \varepsilon_i(\omega)$  complex-valued functions of frequency  $\omega$ .  $\varepsilon$  can be experimentally determined for example via reflectivity studies and the determination of the complex refractive index  $\tilde{N}$ . As defined  $\tilde{N} = \sqrt{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ ,  $\tilde{N}$  is imaginary for  $\omega < \omega_p$ . A material with negative dielectric permittivity does not support propagation of electromagnetic waves; instead the electromagnetic field decays inside the materials with a certain depth and most of the incident energy is reflected. This behavior is the characteristic of metals, where the depth is typically around tens of nanometers. For this case, there is a strong interaction between metal and incident electromagnetic wave, known as absorption and scattering in the following parts of this chapter and Chapter 2.

Reflectivity of metal can be expressed by  $R = \left|\frac{\tilde{N}-1}{\tilde{N}+1}\right|^2 = 1$ , showing that metals have high reflectivity. Then  $\tilde{N}$  is positive for  $\omega > \omega_p$ , and metal is only a conventional dielectric material for incident light.

For transverse waves,  $\mathbf{K} \cdot \mathbf{E} = 0$ , yielding the generic dispersion relation:

$$K^{2} = \epsilon(\mathbf{K}, \omega) \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}}$$
(1.8)

From Eqs. (1.7) and (1.8), we can get the dispersion relation of volume plasmon  $\omega^2 = \omega_p^2 + K^2 c^2$ . It is clear that this value is always larger than that in free space, as shown in Figure 1.1.

As it is discussed above,  $\tilde{N}$  is real in value for  $\omega > \omega_{\rm p}$ , while  $\tilde{N}$  is imaginary for  $\omega < \omega_{\rm p}$ , and  $K = \frac{i}{c} \sqrt{\omega_{\rm p}^2 - \omega^2}$ , leading to rapid decay of electromagnetic waves in the material. The skin depth is defined as  $\delta = c/\sqrt{\omega_{\rm p}^2 - \omega^2}$ , which determines whether the electromagnetic wave can propagate through the medium. For example, in



Figure 1.1 Dispersion of light in free space (a) and metals (b).

the ionosphere (50–500 km) above our ground, the plasmon density in the order of  $10^{12-15}/m^3$ , and the cut-off frequency (~10 MHz) is less than the TV band. Therefore, the TV electromagnetic signal can penetrate into this ionosphere and spread signal from the satellites. The free electrons in metals can also be regarded as plasmon. However, the frequency of visible light (~10 THz) is less than  $\omega_p$  of metals (>100 THz), and visible light cannot penetrate most metals. As a result, most metals are silvery white for high reflectivity of visible light. In the metal-medium (or vacuum) system, the plasmons are confined strongly with light to surfaces, resulting in a surface polariton.

Actually, the electrons of metals are not free as described in the Drude model. The electrons have inherent frequency  $\omega_0$  and form restoring force that depends on the existing space or local structure. Therefore, the electron movement was revised into Eq. (1.9)

$$m\ddot{\mathbf{x}} + m\gamma\dot{\mathbf{x}} + m\omega_0^2 \mathbf{x} = -e\mathbf{E} \tag{1.9}$$

We can get Eq. (1.10)

$$\varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{c}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right) = 1 - \frac{\omega_{\rm p}^2}{\omega^2 + i\gamma\omega - \omega_{\rm p}^2} \tag{1.10}$$

For practical purpose, the advantage of the Drude model is that it can easily be incorporated into time-domain based numerical solvers for Maxwell's equations. Its inadequacy in describing the optical properties of Au and Ag at visible frequencies can be overcome by replacing Eq. (1.6) with Eq. (1.10). Here, the interband transitions are thus described using the classical picture of a bound electron with resonance frequency  $\omega_0$ .

In the Drude model for free electrons, the collective electrons vibration is a longitudinal wave mode due to the electrons vibration caused by electrostatic field force. The electric field caused by surface plasmons decays quickly after penetrating the interface, localizing in the range of a few nanometers on the surface.

# 1.4 Surface Plasmon Polaritons

Similar to the complex wave of water surface caused by liquid surface tension, there will be rich physical phenomena on the interface between metal and medium due to the breaking of symmetry. Surface plasmon is a special mode of plasmon due to the special boundary conditions on the surface.

Since plasmon was proposed as the quantization of classical plasma oscillation from a Hamiltonian for the long-range electron–electron correlations, most of their properties can be derived directly from Maxwell's equations [6]. When electromagnetic wave incidents on the interface between metal and medium, the coupling between collective electron vibration and incident light leads to the formation of near-field electromagnetic wave propagating along the metal surface. And resonance will occur if these two frequencies are the same. Under the resonance state, the energy of electromagnetic field is effectively transformed into

the collective vibration energy of free electrons on the metal surface. That is the well-known surface plasmon resonances (SPR).

There are also two modes of surface plasmon. One is longitudinal surface plasmon wave mode caused by electron oscillation, and the other one is confined to the surfaces that can interact with light to form propagating surface plasmon polaritons (SPPs). Polariton is the elementary excitation of the coupling vibration of photons and other quasiparticles. SPP has two excitation motions, charge motion (plasmon) and electromagnetic waves decayed at surface.

The electromagnetic field of SPP at a dielectric-metal interface is obtained from the solution of Maxwell's equations and the associated boundary conditions. To introduce the main characteristics of SPP, we consider a system consisting of a dielectric material, characterized by an isotropic dielectric constants  $\varepsilon_2$  (real and positive), in the half-space z > 0, and a metal in the half-space z < 0, characterized by complex dielectric function  $\varepsilon_1(\omega) = \varepsilon_r(\omega) + \varepsilon_i(\omega)$ .

Using the continuity of electric field at the interface, we can get the electromagnetic field of SPP at the dielectric-metal interface with the polarization direction of the incident light parallel to the incident plane. From the Maxwell's electromagnetic field theory, we can obtain the following equations:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla \times H_i = \varepsilon_i \frac{\partial}{\partial t} E_i \\ \nabla \times E_i = -\mu_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial t} H_i \\ \nabla \cdot \varepsilon_i E_i = 0 \\ \nabla \cdot H_i = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.11)  
$$i = 1 \text{ at } z < 0, \text{ and } i = 2 \text{ at } z > 0$$

Then we can get the s-polarized wave (TE mode) with  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t} = i\omega$ 

$$\nabla^2 \boldsymbol{E} + K^2 \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{E} = 0 \tag{1.12}$$

We then consider a p-polarized (transverse magnetic or TM) wave in this structure that propagates in the *x*-direction.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 E_y}{\partial z^2} + (K^2 \epsilon - K_x^2) E_y = 0 \\ H_x = i \frac{1}{\omega \mu_0} \frac{\partial E_y}{\partial z} \\ H_z = \frac{K'}{\omega \mu_0} E_y \end{cases}$$
(1.13)  
$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 H_y}{\partial z^2} + (K^2 \epsilon - K_x^2) H_y = 0 \\ E_x = -i \frac{1}{\omega \epsilon \mu_0} \frac{\partial H_y}{\partial z} \\ E_z = -\frac{K'}{\omega \epsilon \epsilon_0} H_y \end{cases}$$
(1.14)



**Figure 1.2** Dispersion of transverse electric TE mode and transverse magnetic TM mode on the dielectric-metal interface.

For the TE case,  $k_1$  and  $k_2$  are wave vectors in metal and medium along z direction. We now consider an s-polarized (transverse electric or TE) wave in the structure depicted in Figure 1.2. In a wave of this polarization, it is the electric vector that is perpendicular to the plane of incidence. The solutions of Maxwell's equations that are wavelike in the x-direction localized to the interface can be written as:

$$\begin{cases} E_{y}(z) = A_{1}e^{iK_{x}x}e^{k_{1z}z} \\ H_{x}(z) = iA_{1}\frac{1}{\omega\mu_{0}}k_{1z}e^{iK_{x}x}e^{k_{1z}z}Z < 0 \\ H_{z}(z) = A_{1}\frac{K'}{\omega\mu_{0}}e^{iK_{x}x}e^{k_{1z}z} \\ F_{y}(z) = A_{2}e^{iK_{x}x}e^{-k_{2z}z} \\ H_{x}(z) = -iA_{2}\frac{1}{\omega\mu_{0}}k_{2z}e^{iK_{x}x}e^{-k_{2z}z}Z > 0 \\ H_{z}(z) = A_{2}\frac{K'}{\omega\mu_{0}}e^{iK_{x}x}e^{-k_{2z}z} \end{cases}$$
(1.15)

The continuity of the tangential components of the electric  $(E_y)$  and magnetic fields  $(H_x)$  across the interface z = 0 yields the pair of equations. The solution of this equation is  $A_1 = A_2 = 0$ . Thus an s-polarized SPP (TE mode) cannot exist in the structure depicted.

Therefore, we only consider a p-polarized (transverse magnetic or TM) wave in this structure that propagates in the *x* direction. In a wave of this polarization the magnetic vector is perpendicular to the plane of incidence – the plane defined by the direction of propagation and the normal to the surface. The solutions of Maxwell's equations that are wavelike in the *x* direction and whose amplitudes decay exponentially with increasing distance into each medium from the interface z = 0 can be written as:

$$\begin{cases}
\boldsymbol{H}_{y}(z) = A_{1} e^{iK_{x}x} e^{k_{1z}z} \\
\boldsymbol{E}_{x}(z) = -iA_{1} \frac{1}{\omega\epsilon_{1}\epsilon_{0}} k_{1z} e^{iK_{x}x} e^{k_{1z}z} Z < 0 \\
\boldsymbol{E}_{z}(z) = -A_{1} \frac{K'}{\omega\epsilon_{1}\epsilon_{0}} e^{iK_{x}x} e^{k_{1z}z} \\
\boldsymbol{H}_{y}(z) = A_{2} e^{iK_{x}x} e^{-k_{2z}z} \\
\boldsymbol{E}_{x}(z) = iA_{2} \frac{1}{\omega\epsilon_{2}\epsilon_{0}} k_{2z} e^{iK_{x}x} e^{-k_{2z}z} Z > 0 \\
\boldsymbol{E}_{z}(z) = -A_{1} \frac{K'}{\omega\epsilon_{2}\epsilon_{0}} e^{iK_{x}x} e^{-k_{2z}z} Z > 0 \\
 \end{cases}$$
(1.17)
$$(1.18)$$

The boundary conditions at the plane z = 0 yield the pair of equations:

$$\begin{cases}
A_{1} = A_{2}, \frac{k_{2z}}{k_{1z}} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{2}}{\varepsilon_{1}} \\
k_{1z} = \sqrt{K_{x}^{2} - K^{2}\varepsilon_{1}} \\
k_{2z} = \sqrt{K_{x}^{2} - K^{2}\varepsilon_{2}}
\end{cases}$$
(1.19)

Here we can write wave vector in the *x* direction.

$$K_{x} = K \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{1} \varepsilon_{2}}{\varepsilon_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}}} = \frac{\omega}{c} \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{1} \varepsilon_{2}}{\varepsilon_{1} + \varepsilon_{2}}}$$
(1.20)

In the region of z < 0,  $k_z$  determines the decay of the electromagnetic field with increasing distance from the surface.

Surface plasmon occurs at the interface of a material exhibiting positive part in a dielectric constant (such as vacuum, air, glass, and other dielectrics) and a metal (or heavily doped semiconductor) whose real part of permittivity is negative at the given frequency of light. The dispersions of bulk plasmon, SPP at a dielectric-metal interface, light in air and in the dielectric medium is shown in Figure 1.3. In addition to opposite sign of the real part of the permittivity, the magnitude of the real part of the permittivity in the negative permittivity region should typically be larger than the magnitude of the permittivity in the positive permittivity region, otherwise the light is not bound to the surface (i.e. the surface plasmons do not exist).

For the existence of surface plasmon wave, the wave vector must be a positive value. Due to the facts of  $\varepsilon_1 < 0$ ,  $\varepsilon_2 > 0$ , and  $\lfloor \varepsilon_1 \rfloor > \varepsilon_2$ , it can be seen that the surface wave vector  $\mathbf{K}_x$  is always larger than  $\mathbf{K}$  for the incident light of any frequency.  $\mathbf{K}_z$  must be an imaginary number, and electromagnetic field of the SPP decays



**Figure 1.3** Dispersion of SPP at a dielectric-metal interface. Also plotted is the dispersion of light in air and in the dielectric medium, and the corresponding surface plasmon frequency.

exponentially in the *z* direction into the dielectric medium in contact with the metal. Consequently, the SPP cannot radiate light into the dielectric medium, and cannot be excited with conventional illumination from the adjacent dielectric. Moreover, the frequency of the surface plasmon is also the limiting frequency of the SPP with  $K_x \rightarrow \infty$ .

Thus, the existence of SPs depends entirely on the fact that dielectric function  $\epsilon(\omega)$  has a negative real part ( $\epsilon_1 < 0$ ). The SPs are well pronounced as resonances when the losses are small enough, i.e.  $\lfloor \epsilon_1 \rfloor \gg \epsilon_2$ . This is the well-known property of a good plasmonic metal. We will define the substance as a good plasmonic metal if these two properties are satisfied simultaneously.

# 1.5 Plasmon at Metal-Vacuum Interface

For the metal-vacuum interface with  $\varepsilon_2 = 1, K = \frac{\omega}{c}$ , when  $K_x \longrightarrow \infty$ ,  $\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2 = 0$ , we can see the relation between the bulk plasmon and SPP in the Drude model Eq. (1.7)

$$\omega_{\rm sp} = \sqrt{\frac{\omega_{\rm p}}{2}} \tag{1.21}$$

For the metal-dielectric interface,  $\varepsilon_2 = \varepsilon_d, K = \frac{\omega}{c}\sqrt{\varepsilon_d}$  in dielectric, and  $\omega = cK/\sqrt{\varepsilon_d}$ . This wave vector  $k_0$  equals to one value of SPP.

As discussed above, the metal film is not treated as a conductor as bulk metal in electromagnetic field. The metal films and nanostructures in the following chapters will be treated as special dispersive medium with polarization property in electromagnetic field. Under this case, the SPP mode for metals is obtained.

#### 1.5.1 Propagation Length

As the electromagnetic field of the SPP decays exponentially along the z direction into the dielectric medium in contact with the metal. It is necessary to know the propagation length and depth.

From Eq. (1.10), it is clear that  $\varepsilon(\omega) = \varepsilon_r(\omega) + \varepsilon_i(\omega)$  and wave vector has real and imaginary parts for the metals. For the metal-vacuum interface, we can see that the real and imaginary parts of wave vectors are as following:

$$K_{\rm xr} \approx \frac{\omega}{c} \left(\frac{\varepsilon_{\rm 1r}}{\varepsilon_{\rm 1r}+1}\right)^{1/2}$$
 (1.22)

$$K_{\rm xi} \approx \frac{\omega}{c} \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm 1i}}{2\varepsilon_{\rm 1r}^2} \left(\frac{\varepsilon_{\rm 1r}}{\varepsilon_{\rm 1r}+1}\right)^{3/2} \tag{1.23}$$

Due to Ohmic losses in the metal, characterized by the imaginary part of the dielectric function of the metal, the energy carried by a SPP decays exponentially as the SPP propagates along the planar dielectric-metal interface. The decay length, called the energy propagation length  $L_{\rm sp}$  is determined by the imaginary part of

the SPP wavenumber. The propagation length along the metal-vacuum interface is defined as  $L_{\rm sp} = (2K_{\rm xi})^{-1}$ . For example, the propagation lengths for Au and Ag are  $L_{\rm Au} = 14 \,\mu{\rm m}$  and  $L_{\rm Ag} = 44 \,\mu{\rm m}$  with the irradiation 633 nm light (the  $\varepsilon$  of metals of this frequency can be referred to Ref. [5]).

Plasmons or bulk plasmons cannot be coupled with light waves and can only be excited by particle collisions. In metals (as mentioned Au and Ag) with large number of free electrons, plasmons have very high propagation loss due to the strong Landau damping effect and the scattering between plasmons and phonons. While for two-dimensional materials, the plasmons attenuation is greatly suppressed because they are confined to the plane. As typical representative two-dimensional materials, graphene and black phosphorus become extremely popular plasmon materials [7].

#### 1.5.2 Propagation Depth (or Skin Depth)

From Eq. (1.19) the wave vector in the *z* direction can be written as:

$$\begin{cases} k_{1z} = \frac{\omega}{c} \sqrt{\frac{-\varepsilon_1^2}{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2}} \\ k_{2z} = \frac{\omega}{c} \sqrt{\frac{-\varepsilon_2^2}{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2}} \end{cases}$$
(1.24)

The skin depth is defined as  $\delta_i = 1/k_i$ . It is clear that the penetration depth in vacuum is greater than that in metals. SPP is an evanescent wave along the normal direction of the interface. Figure 1.4 shows the schematic diagram and FDTD simulation diagram for SPP propagation in medium, metals and their interfaces [8]. The finite skin depth of real metals leads to an effect related to nanoplasmonic confinement. For example, the skin depths for most metals ( $\delta_{metal}$ ) are about several to tens of nanometers [2],  $\delta_{diel}$  is in the range of 250–1000 nm, and  $\delta_{SPP}$  is about 2–20 µm with the irradiation 500 nm light. The characteristic lengths of Ag plasmons are slightly larger than those of other metals. For electromagnetic wave with frequency of 50 MHz ( $\lambda = 6$  m), the skin depth is more than one hundred meters for dry soil of poor conductivity, while the skin depth is greatly reduced to millimeters for sea water. Thus, submarines under the sea cannot receive radio waves, and we can receive the signal under the subway.

The common presumption that electromagnetic radiation cannot be concentrated or confined to a region whose size is less than half the incident wavelength. It is obvious that the minimum volume of an optical field localized in a cavity – bounded by three pairs of ideal mirrors with size of  $\lambda/2$ . How can an optical field be localized 6–7 orders of magnitude tighter on the scale of 1 nm? From the above skin depth, the particles should be smaller than the metal's skin depth – how deeply the optical radiation penetrates the metal. That depth is roughly 25 nm for Au, Ag, and Cu over the entire optical and most of the IR region [2]. On the minimum end, the particles should not be smaller than the so-called nonlocality length about 2 nm. On the scale of 2–20 nm, an incident light wave is always a plane wave, and no light focusing in the optical far-field is possible.



**Figure 1.4** Schematic diagram and simulation diagram for SPP propagation in mediummetals (a) and their interfaces.  $\delta_{diel}$  and  $\delta_{metal}$  evanescent wave (b) FDTD simulation of electric-field intensity. Ag nanowire diameter = 100 nm, Ge nanowire diameter = 40 nm. Source: Falf et al. [8]/Reproduced with permission from © 2009 Springer Nature.

# 1.6 Excitation and Detection of SP

Generally, surface plasmon has momentum as a quasiparticle. SP can be excited by electrons or photons. The response function of material to external field is dielectric function. The very small momentum of light can be ignored. The momentum conservation also limits the coupling between plasmon and light. Usually, the bulk plasmon is the quantum of longitudinal electron-density wave within the bulk metal, and it cannot be excited by transverse electromagnetic plane waves. It can only be excited by electron beam. While the SP, also quantum of longitudinal electron-density waves, confined to the metal-dielectric interface, and it is often excited using dielectric prism coupled with a thin metal film, near-field optics and other methods. Here optical and electrical excitation of SP will be presented. As an important content of this book, localized surface plasmon (LSP) of metal nanoparticles will also be delivered.

# 1.6.1 Optical Excitation of SP

The reason that the SPs can be optically excited is because their relevant physical property are the same. SPs are Bosons with spin of 1 as photons do. At the same

time, SPs are electrically neutral excitations. SPs are the most collective material oscillations known in nature, and they interact very weakly with one another. Therefore, they can undergo stimulated emission, accumulating in a single mode in large numbers.

In order to excite an SP by p-polarized light incident on a planar metal surface from the adjacent dielectric medium, the frequency of the incident light must equal the frequency of the SP. From the SP dispersion relation or Figure 1.3, we can see that light incident from air cannot be directly coupled with SPP mode because the wave vector of SP is larger than that in air. The SP can be excited with the assistance of special experimental arrangements or structures for matching the wave vector. Therefore, several devices (Figure 1.5) have been designed to provide the necessary wave vector conservation, including reflection geometry (Kretschmann and Otto configurations), scanning near-field optical microscopy (SNOM), diffraction effects (grating couples) surface roughness and scattering particles [9].

In the Kretschmann configuration, a metal film is illuminated through a dielectric prism at an angle of incidence greater than the critical angle for total internal reflection. The wavevector of light is increased in the optically more dense medium. At the angle of incidence at which the in-plane component of the photon wave-vector in the prism coincides with the SPP wave vector at the air-metal interface, resonant light tunneling through the metal film occurs, and light is coupled to surface polaritons. Figure 1.6a presents the detailed wave vector in the Kretschmann geometry. Under these resonant conditions, a sharp minimum is observed in the reflectivity from the prism-metal interface as light can be coupled to SPP. Since the SPP field is concentrated close to a metal surface, it is significantly enhanced at the surface. With the increase of the metal film thickness the efficiency of the SPP excitation (and the



**Figure 1.5** SP excitation configurations: (a) Kretschmann geometry, (b) two-layer Kretschmann geometry, (c) Otto geometry, (d) excitation with a SNOM probe, (e) diffraction on a grating, and (f) diffraction on surface features. Source: Reproduced from Zayatsa et al. [9]/with permission of Elsevier.

1.6 Excitation and Detection of SP 15



**Figure 1.6** (a) Wave vector dispersion in the Kretschmann geometry. (b) Typical SPP dispersion at the metal-dielectric interface.

field enhancement) decreases with increasing the distance. Usually, an additional dielectric layer with a refractive index smaller than the one of the prism should be deposited between the prism and the metal film. In this two-layer geometry, the photon tunneling through this additional dielectric layer can also provide excitation of SPP on the inner interface, as shown in Figure 1.6b.

With the development of scanning probe techniques, it become possible to study SPs locally on a surface using SNOM. In particular, SNOM provides an opportunity to probe the SP field directly over the SP existing surface. The application of SNOM to SP studies introduced a new technique that provides the possibility to excite SP locally at a given surface. Using illumination through a SNOM fiber tip, circular SP waves can be locally launched at the surface. This configuration can be treated as either a diffraction or a tunneling mechanism of SP excitation. This technique allows local and precise excitation of SPs at the SNOM tip.

Plasmon can be excited by particle collisions without any special arrangements, although it cannot be coupled with light waves. Light scattering and absorption by a sphere surely constitute the most evolved model for light scattering by obstacles. On a randomly rough surface, the SP excitation conditions can be achieved. The rough surface can be consisted of small sized particles, and the SP is highly localized near the particles, as known LSPs. Here we briefly present the concept of LSP. LSP can be supported by subwavelength features on a small sized metal particle surface where the LSP can decay into SP. As a result, LSP can be excited by SPP. These results in a significant enhancement of SPP scattering by surface defects if the frequency of SP and the resonant frequency of LSP are close to each other.

This is possible since in the near-field region diffracted components of light are all wave vectors (Figure 1.5f). The problem with random roughness is ill-defined nonresonant SP excitation, resulting in a low efficiency of light-to-SP coupling. Such nonresonant SP excitation processes result in a complex field distribution over the surface due to the interference of the SPPs excited on different interfaces of the film and the non-coupled illuminating light. LSP resonances play a significant role in the

behavior of SPP on rough surfaces if their frequency is close to the SP frequency, as will be discussed in Chapter 2. Over the last few decades, plasmonics has brought us new opportunities to control light at wavelength scales, thus leading to many inspiring applications, such as super resolution imaging beyond the diffraction limit, new kind of optical sensors with enhanced performance.

#### 1.6.2 Electrical SPP Excitation

In addition to optical illumination, energized electrons have also been employed to excite metal plasmons, such as high energy free electrons, inelastic electron tunneling, and a modest electric field [10, 11]. Excitation by electrons is created by firing electrons into the bulk of a metal. As the electrons scatter, energy is transferred into the bulk plasmon. The component of the scattering vector parallel to the surface results in the formation of SPP. With the development of nano-fabrication techniques, on-chip electrically-driven plasmonic circuitries have gained great attention in the post-Moore era for they hold the promise to combine both the small device footprint of electronic circuitry and the large information capacity. Recently, direct electrical excitation of SPP via inelastic electron tunneling in metal–insulator–metal junctions has reemerged as a promising ultrafast source to drive the integrated plasmonic circuitries.

Since 2003, plasmonics has facilitated the realization of coherent nanolasers [12], plasmon enhance diodes [13]. Naturally, the next step is to realize the electrically driven plasmon sources that can be integrated with optoelectronic circuitry. In 2012, Fan et al. present an experimental demonstration of electrically driven GaAs nanowire light sources integrated with plasmonic Ag nanostrip waveguides [14]. SPPs are experimentally demonstrated and analyzed with the help of full-field electromagnetic simulations, as indicated by Figure 1.7. They also found that light leaking out of plasmonic waveguide bend and emerges from the Y-splitter junction, and suggested that making splitting junction as "sharp" as possible can minimize splitting losses.

In 2019, Yang et al., designed and experimentally demonstrated an electrically driven UV plasmonic laser at room temperature in a p-GaN/MgO/ZnO/MgO/Ag structure, as shown in Figure 1.8. [15] This structure includes an Ag/MgO/ZnO MIS hybrid plasmonic waveguide, in which strong optical confinement and relatively low metal loss can be satisfied simultaneously. In the proposed structure, holes are injected into ZnO layer from p-GaN, and electrons are injected from Ag film through MgO gap layer. An additional electron blocking MgO layer has been introduced at the interface between the gain region and the GaN layer to enhance the emission from ZnO by blocking electrons in the ZnO from entering into the p-GaN. This plasmonic laser device represented the state-of-the-art performances inelectrically driven plasmonic lasers.

Neutens et al. demonstrated an integrated electrical source of confined SPPs in LED-MIM device [16]. The electrical injection of SPPs inside an MIM waveguides can combine high spatial field confinement and propagation lengths of several micrometers. Since the metallic cladding layers ensure that the fields are confined



**Figure 1.7** (a, b) Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of the structures (straight strip, bend, and Y-shape) collected by CCD camera under lamp illumination with false-color highlighting the different components: yellow is for electrical contacts, cyan is for GaAs nanowire, and green indicates the Ag strip waveguides. Scale bar is 2  $\mu$ m. (c, d) Detailed spatial distribution of the scattered light intensity near the terminations of waveguides with different shapes when only collecting light with the electric field component polarized along and perpendicular to the waveguides, respectively. Scale bars are 1  $\mu$ m. Source: Fan et al. [14]/Reproduced with permission from © 2012, American Chemical Society.

within the waveguide, one can easily separate plasmonic effects from any other nonplasmonic background radiation. The working principle of the LED-MIM device was clearly demonstrated. When the polarization of the dipole is set in plane and perpendicular to the slit axis, light generated in the quantum well excites a local plasmonic mode inside the injection slit. This local mode couples efficiently to a propagating mode inside the MIM waveguide.

The injection and detection slits in the waveguide partially reflect surface plasmons, resulting in a Fabry–Perot cavity inside the MIM waveguide. Only light with transverse magnetic polarization can be emitted at the detection slit. They also observed theoretically expected an exponential decay of the SPPs along the waveguide, caused by the Ohmic losses inside the metal layers of the metallic slot waveguide. It is well-known that the nonradiative plasmonic decay can also generate hot carriers from metal nanostructures. Sun et al. reported on the incandescent-type light source composed of Au NRs decorated with single Ga-doped ZnO microwire, as illustrated by Figure 1.9 [17].



Figure 1.8 The schematic diagram of electrically driven plasmonic laser based on p-GaN/MgO/ZnO/MgO/Ag structure. Inset illustrates the SPPs feedback diagram in the ZnO/MgO/Ag cavity. Source: Reproduced from Yang et al. [15] © 2019/with permission of John Wiley and Sons Inc.





Under a sufficiently strong electric field ( $\sim 10^6 V m^{-1}$ ), hot spots could be produced owing to the extremely poor heat dissipation of semiconductor. Then collective oscillation of the free electrons in Au NRs can be electrically excited. Through nonradiative plasmonic decay, Au NR plasmons can transfer their energies into oscillating higher-energy electrons, leading to formation of hot electrons. Especially once the hot electron possessed the energy up to plasmon frequency, Au-nanorod plasmons inducing the generation of nonequilibrium distribution of hot electrons can lead to the state-filling effect in the energy-level configuration of ZnO:Ga, which can be employed to dominate the near-infrared emission characteristics from single AuNRs@ZnO:Ga microwire based incandescent light source, as shown in Figure 1.9b,c. Nonradiative decay of surface plasmons generates hot carriers in metal nanostructures that can be injected into neighboring semiconductor micro/nanostructures. Thus wavelength-tunable incandescent-type emissions can be achieved from visible to near-infrared region adjusting the aspect ratios of the Au NRs. Such working principle on the generation of hot carriers has been utilized to construct and further enhance the electronic and optoelectronic devices. The plasmon-enhanced optoelectronic device will be discussed in Chapter 9.

Optically excited SPs are featured by dipolar charge oscillations and they can be understood as bright SPs due to their dipole-active character. Bright SPs can be further tailored in Vis-NIR regime by controlling the size and morphology of noble metal nanoparticles. But dark surface-plasmon modes cannot be excited by optical means. Although SNOM can excite SPP locally at a given surface, this technique can hardly reach a spatial resolution. In contrast, electron-energy-loss spectroscopy (EELS) performed in a scanning transmission electron microscope (STEM) routinely provides nanometer spatial resolution by focusing a subnanometer electron beam on nanoparticles and analyzing the energy losses of the electrons. Chu et al. reported that STEM-EELS can excite bright and dark SP modes in metal monomer and coupled nanochain structures [18]. Upon external illumination with the electric field polarized along the dimer axis, the induced charge oscillation thus involves a longitudinal coupled SP along the long axis and a transversal coupled SP perpendicular to that axis. Compared to the SP excitation energy of a single spherical nanoparticle, the SP excitation of coupled dimer behaviors red- and blue-shifting, which will be discussed in the following part of "detection of surface plasmon" using EELS.

These types of SP-distribution features should be observable by tilting the sample and measuring the spectra at various angles of electron incidences. In such cases, STEM-EELS should then be able to provide information on the local polarization of the SP near fields, as described in Chapter 3.

#### 1.6.3 Localized Surface Plasmon of Nanoparticles

In addition to SPP and surface plasmons at a planar dielectric-metal interface, as shown in Figure 1.5f for the photon excitation of SPP, it can be seen that the isolated surface defects, such as a groove, a particle, a slit or a corrugation on a planar surface provides a mechanism by which free-space radiation and SPs can exchange energy

and hence couple. In the localized space, electromagnetic excitations can exist in nanometer sized metal objects of various shapes.

As discussed above, for materials with negative dielectric permittivity (characteristic behavior of metals), the most of the incident irradiation is reflected and incident electromagnetic field decays inside the materials with a depth of a few tens nanometers. But for a nanoparticle with size smaller than the depth size, optical fields are able to penetrate its entire volume and drive SP oscillations. It is the skin depth that determines the characteristic length scale in nano-optics and makes the nanoscale important. Plasmonic nanoparticles can couple with electromagnetic radiation of wavelengths far larger than the particle due to the nature of the dielectric-metal interface.

For the case of SP oscillations, conduction electrons in metal or metal-doped semiconductor nanomaterials can be coherently excited by incident light to collectively oscillate at metal/dielectric interfaces. For metal nanoparticles, surface waves can be excited directly by optical excitation, leading to the conception of metallic or "plasmonic" nanostructures as nanoscale optical components. Such surface excitations in bounded geometries are the well-known LSPs. Plasmons are the oscillations of free electrons that are the consequence of the formation of a dipole or multipole in the material under electromagnetic waves. The electrons migrate in the material to restore its initial state. However, the light waves oscillate, leading to a constant shift in the dipole or multipole that forces the electrons to oscillate at the same frequency as the light. This coupling only occurs when the frequency of the light is equal to or less than the plasma frequency and is greatest at the plasma frequency that is therefore called the resonant frequency. Under the resonant frequency, plasmonic nanoparticles exhibit interesting scattering, absorbance, and coupling properties.

For metal objects of various shapes with sizes smaller than the light wavelength, absorption and scattering response of light by particles can be characterized after solving Maxwell's equations. In 1908, Gustav Mie obtained an analytical solution for single spherical particles by solving the scattering of a monochromatic plane wave by a homogeneous dielectric sphere of arbitrary size in a homogeneous medium [19]. The theory of plane-wave scattering by a homogeneous isotropic sphere is also called Lorenz–Mie theory or Lorenz–Mie–Debye theory for their contributions to solving this problem [20, 21]. Briefly, the polarization of dipole when one uniform spherical particle with a volume of *V* was irradiated under the plane light.

$$\chi = 3V \frac{\varepsilon - \varepsilon_{\rm m}}{\varepsilon + 2\varepsilon_{\rm m}} \tag{1.25}$$

Then the expressions for the optical cross, such as extinction section  $\sigma_{\text{ext}}$ , scattering section  $\sigma_{\text{sca}}$ , and absorption section  $\sigma_{\text{abs}}$ , can be obtained ( $\sigma_{\text{ext}} = \sigma_{\text{sca}} + \sigma_{\text{abs}}$ ).

$$\sigma_{\rm sca} = \frac{k^4}{6\pi} |\chi|^2 = C_1 \frac{a^6}{\lambda^4} \left| \frac{\varepsilon - \varepsilon_{\rm m}}{\varepsilon + 2\varepsilon_{\rm m}} \right|^2 = C_1 \frac{a^6}{\lambda^4} \frac{(\varepsilon_1 - 2\varepsilon_{\rm m})^2 + \varepsilon_2^2}{(\varepsilon_1 + 2\varepsilon_{\rm m})^2 + \varepsilon_2^2} \tag{1.26}$$

$$\sigma_{\rm abs} = k {\rm Im}(\chi) = C_2 \frac{a^3}{\lambda} \left| \frac{\varepsilon - \varepsilon_{\rm m}}{\varepsilon + 2\varepsilon_{\rm m}} \right|^2 = C_2 \frac{a^3}{\lambda} \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm m} \varepsilon_2}{(\varepsilon_1 + 2\varepsilon_{\rm m})^2 + \varepsilon_2^2}$$
(1.27)

where  $C_1 = 128\pi^3/3$ ,  $C_2 = 32\pi^2$ , *a* presents the radius of particle. When the particle size is smaller than the light wavelength, we can see  $\frac{a^{\circ}}{\lambda^4} = a^2 \frac{a^4}{\lambda^4} \ll a^2 \frac{a}{\lambda}$ . Therefore,  $\sigma_{\rm abs}$  is dominated for small sized particles, and  $\sigma_{\rm sca}$  can not be ignored for large sized nanoparticles (note that  $a \ll \lambda$ ). Additionally, the absorption and scattering peaks are highly sensitive to the medium. The resonance absorption (or scattering) will occur when  $\epsilon + 2\epsilon_{\rm m} \rightarrow 0$ . From Drude mode with  $\gamma \ll \omega$ , the resonant frequency of spherical nanoparticles is derived.

$$\omega_{\max} = \frac{\omega_{p}}{\sqrt{1 + 2\varepsilon_{m}}}$$
(1.28)

The resonant frequency is approximately linear with the refractive index (n), red-shifting and blue-shifting with increasing and decreasing the refractive index. For metal nanoparticles, the SPR are characterized by discrete, complex frequencies, depending on the size and shape of the object. LSPs are confined to curved metal particles. In contrast to the SPP mode that can be excited only if both the frequency and wave vector of the exciting light match the frequency and wave vector of the SPP, LSPs of nanoparticles with  $d \ll \lambda$  can be resonantly excited with light of appropriate frequency irrespective of the wave vector of the exciting light, which is the well-known localized SPR. The resonant energy depends on the particle size and shape, and the permittivity (dielectric constant) of the metal nanoparticle itself and surrounding materials, and can be tuned by these factors. Different modes of localized SPR exhibit enhanced near-field amplitude at the resonance wavelength. This field is highly localized at the nanoparticle and decays rapidly away from the nanoparticle/dielectric interface into the dielectric background, though far-field scattering by the particle.

Therefore, with the adsorption or modification of molecular on the particle surface, the local medium environment changes or the particles will be assembled into a certain configuration, which will lead to the obvious shifting of resonant peak position [22]. Using this feature of SPR, scientists can realize highly sensitive biological and chemical sensors.

The localized SPR is the fundamental principle behind many technology applications. Another important characteristic of SP in application is quality factor (*Q*), which is the number of electron oscillations that occur coherently, and during which the mode is able to sustain its phase and accumulate energy from the external excitation field. The  $Q (Q = \frac{\omega}{2\gamma})$  of plasmonic metals ranges from 10 to 100. The SP spectral width (or relaxation rate)  $\gamma$ , quality factor *Q* and lifetime of SP depends explicitly only on the optical frequency  $\omega$  and the image part of permittivities of the metal. This lifetime is in the range 10–60 fs for silver and 1–10 fs for gold in the plasmonic region. These data show that nanoplasmonic phenomena are ultrafast (femtosecond) [2].

In response to an external excitation, a plasmonics nanoparticle can generate local fields that are enhanced by *Q* with respect to the external field. The region occupied by these enhanced fields is determined solely by the size of the nanoparticle. Another route to enhancing the local field is through adjusting the morphology. For instance,

the sharp tip can create intense local fields, which will be delivered in Chapters 4 and 7 for nanostructures based on the Au nanobipyramids.

The above LSP is a quasi electrostatic model, in which metal nanoparticles are treated as dipoles. The delay effect and radiation attenuation effect of electric field in particles are not considered in this model. And it can only be used to calculate particles with diameter much smaller than the wavelength. When the particle size large and comparable to the wavelength, electric field in the particle is no longer uniform because of the small penetration depth of electric field in particles, as discussed in Section 1.5.2. For this case, quadrupole and octupole must be considered, and the polarizability of large sized particle must modified according to the long wavelength approximation, as widely reported in many literatures. On the other extreme direction, influence of strong coupling effect and quantum tunneling effect on plasmons should be considered when the particle size is smaller than the critical size.

Since an LSP is confined to a particle (or a curved surface), it results in a significant electromagnetic field enhancement at small metallic particles due to the small volume of the LSP mode. This effect contributes to numerous phenomena such as light emission from STM tunnel junctions, enhanced scattering, surface enhanced Raman scattering, and second-harmonic generation, and finds applications in active photonic elements and apertureless scanning near-field microscopy.

#### 1.6.4 Other Surface Plasmon Supports

Because of their large negative values of the real part of permittivity, metals are excellent materials for plasmonic applications, particularly noble metals of Au and Ag. These two materials have been used frequently in plasmonics due to their chemical stability and relatively low Ohmic loss in the Vis-NIR wavelength region. Other materials such as Na, Al, Ni, Pt as well as oxides and metallic alloys have demonstrated plasmonic properties.

Different from plasmon mode supported by the isotropic metal or heavily doped semiconductor surface [23], the plasmon in two-dimensional materials is confined to a plane, and its attenuation is greatly suppressed. As a typical two-dimensional material, graphene has become a very popular plasmon support. However, as a semi metal, plasmon frequency of graphene located in the infrared region due to its low carrier concentration. Other two-dimensional materials are also mostly semi-metallic (such as  $TiSe_2$ ) or semi-conductive (such as BN and  $MoS_2$ ) with low carrier concentration. Thus, it is urgent to find suitable two-dimensional metal materials for integrated photonics device. Bornene is a new two-dimensional material with intrinsic metallicity, and it can be a promising plasmon support with low attenuation.

As two dimensional materials with in-plane anisotropy, it is predicted to be the second kind of wail semi metal with series of novel electrical properties, such as ultra-high electron mobility and adjustable carrier concentration. Recently, two dimensional hyperbolic plasmon resonance mode in far infrared band was detected in the  $WTe_2$  thin film through optimizing Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy [24].

## 1.6.5 Detection of Surface Plasmon

Localized SPR of metal nanoparticles were historically probed on UV-Vis-NIR spectrometer by illuminating the sample with far-field plane-wave light and studying the optical response by measuring absorption, scattering spectra. The spectra are an average effect of many particles dispersed in one sample. In 2001, Nagao et al. reported, for the first time, energy and the linewidth dispersion of a plasmon in a dense two-dimensional electron system on a silicon surface. The plasmon energy dispersion exhibited an excellent agreement with the nearly free-electron theory [25].

After SP excitation, it will decay according to two categories: radiative SP decay (studied seldom) and nonradiative SP decay in most cases. Nonradiative decay of SP is usually considered an unwanted process. Much effort was focused on avoiding or mitigating nonradiative SP decay. However, recent studies have proven that hot carriers generated from nonradiative SP decay can be used in many practical applications are plagued by the plasmonic loss – SP diphase, such as photothermal effect, surface imaging, and hot carrier photodetection [26].

Photodetection for the SP includes hot electron and hot hole photodetectors. Compared with hot hole (lower than Fermi level in d band) detection, hot electron (higher than Fermi level) detectors have been widely studied. For example, optical antenna can realize effectively photoelectric conversion and detection, in which the hot electrons in metal nanoantennas can be injected into adjacent semiconductors. However, nanoantennas are usually in subwavelength size, which often requires complex and expensive processing technology, such as electron beam exposure and focused ion beam etching. Another coupling structure of surface plasmon and low dimensional nanomaterials can also realize local electric field enhancement. The low dimensional nanomaterials, such as nanowires, quantum dots, and two-dimensional materials, act as excellent thermionic acceptor and can be applied to construct plasmon hot electron detectors.

Since the plasmons can be excited by both photons and electrons, they can also be detected by means of electrons. In 1957, the existence of surface plasmons in a thin metal film was theoretically predicted by Ritchie [27] for electron energy losses in thin metal film below the bulk plasmons and soon experimentally demonstrated in 1959 by Powell [28]. Stern and Ferrell, in 1960, used transmission experiments to probe the dispersion of the electron energy loss as a function of scattering angle [29]. The experimental observation of LSPRs in metal spheres excited by 50 keV electrons was reported in later of 1960s [30].

With the emergence of energy-filtered TEM and spectrum-image mode in the STEM in the 1980s of metallic nanoparticles, the SP modes and charge distribution were well characterized. Oftentimes, one particular energy is selected for examination and the spectral intensity is plotted as a function of position, resulting in an energy-filtered spectrum-image, which is commonly known as an electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS) map. The early EELS experiments was the first observation of the bulk plasmon in thin Al film [31]. However, the early EELS experiments were not able to reveal the spatial profiles of LSPR, and it was not until the emergence of the energy-filtered TEM and STEM in the 1990s that mapping

studies became possible typically for high-energy atomic transitions beyond the visible region (400-700 nm). The first EELS mapping experiments represented a significant step toward SPR mapping were reported by Nelayah et al., in 2007 [32]. In their work, mappings the localized SPR modes in Au and Ag nanostructures down to region of 1.75–3 eV.

EELS performed in an STEM has demonstrated unprecedented power in the characterization of surface plasmons. For example, Song et al. investigated the plasmon excitation in individual Ag nanoparticles and plasmon maps of coupled Ag nanoparticles [33]. They found that the intensity maxima are distributed along the circular edge of the particle, where the electron beam excites the plasmon effectively. The line profile of the plasmon intensities is shown in Figure 1.10a.



**Figure 1.10** (a) EEL intensity mapping of an Ag particle (energy window: 3.3–3.6 eV). The gray curve is the line profile and the top right is the STEM image. The two spots mark the extraction positions of the EEL spectra in (b). EEL spectra from the spots in (a). The top curve is from the white-circle spot and the bottom curve is from the blue-box spot. (c) EELS from the spots marked in the STEM image of (d), where the red-circle, black-box, and blue-triangle curves refer to the middle, outer edge, and perpendicular edge of the cluster dimer, respectively. The black asterisks mark three features of the spectrum from the black spot. Source: Song et al. [33]/Reproduced with permission from ©2010, JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC.

The maximum in plasmon intensity in the spectrum is located at 3.4 eV, which is assigned to the spherical mode of Ag nanoparticles. When the electron beam is in the middle of the nanoparticle, another feature emerges at 3.8 eV due to the interband transition of the bulk Ag, as shown in Figure 1.10b. For a given dimer with two identical spheres, the EELS extracted from the spots turned out as expected and are shown in Figure 1.10c,d. The distinct spectra from three regions, as shown by the spots in Figure 1.10d, that is, the edge parallel to the center axis (blue triangles), the edge perpendicular to the axis (black boxes), and the center (red circles). The maximum intensities of EELS in Figure 1.10d1–d<sub>3</sub> fall around the black, blue, and red spots, respectively, corresponding to the EELS mappings with energy windows of (d<sub>1</sub>) 2.6–2.9, (d<sub>2</sub>) 3.2–3.5, and (d<sub>3</sub>) 3.5–3.8 eV. And they assigned the in-phase mode at 2.7–2.9 eV and the anti-phase mode at 3.6 eV. These positions agree with those predicted theoretically.

Nowadays, the subangstrom spatial resolution achieved in EELS and its capability of exciting the full set of LSPR modes supported by a metallic nanostructure makes STEM/EELS an ideal tool in the study of LSPR. The plasmonic properties characterized using EELS can be associated with geometric or structural features collected simultaneously in a STEM to achieve a deeper understanding of the plasmonic response.

# 1.7 Surface Plasmon Effects

Under excitation, SP can either propagate on a planar metallic surface as SPP or be confined to the particles known as LSP, providing a novel means of enhancing light-matter interaction at the nanoscale. Especially for the LSP of metal nanostructures, it has the characteristics or advantages of selective light scattering and absorption, electric field localization and strong enhancement. More and more achievements show that surface plasmons are promising in the fields of biology, chemistry, materials, energy, catalysis, and so on. Here, we present some typical surface plasmon effects, such as field enhancement and hot electron effect that are of great important for catalytic reaction, surface enhanced spectroscopy, photothermal conversion and photoelectric device.

#### 1.7.1 Electric Field Enhancement

Surface plasmons are oscillations confined to the surfaces of conducting materials and interact strongly with light. It is well-known that a metal particle of Au or Ag having an intense localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR) peak can act as a nanoantenna for trapping light to form a locally enhanced electric field in the proximity of metal nanoparticles. After surface plasmon excitation, resonant energy transfer is a nonradiative energy transfer process. Based on the energy transfer mechanism, light-harvesting structures have been designed to implement the performance of detectors or photovoltaic structures [34].

Irradiating metal nanoparticles with light at their plasmon frequency generates intense local electric fields at the surface of the nanoparticles. Electromagnetic

simulations using the FDTD method have shown that the electric field intensity of local plasmonic "hot spots" can reach as much as 1000 times that of the incident electric field [35]. In these "hot spot" regions, the electron-hole pair generation rate is 1000 times that of the incident electromagnetic field. When the metal nanoparticles were coated on the surface of semiconductor, such as the commonly applied TiO<sub>2</sub> and CdS, photo-induced charge is generated locally in the semiconductors due to the local near-field enhancement of nanoparticles LSPR effect. Torimoto et al. found that the LSPR-induced electric field and photocatalytic activity of Au/SiO<sub>2</sub>/CdS for photocatalytic H<sub>2</sub>O splitting greatly depend on the distance between CdS and Au nanoparticles, which further supports the near-field electromagnetic enhancement mechanism [36]. It is found that direct deposition of Au on CdS photocatalysts is not suitable for the photocatalytic H<sub>2</sub>O splitting due to the direct photoinduced electron transferring from CdS to Au particles. At the same time, simple particle mixture of CdS@SiO<sub>2</sub> and Au@SiO<sub>2</sub> did not cause any enhancement of H<sub>2</sub> evolution rate because the intensity of the LSPR-induced electric field decays with increase in distance from the metal surface. Therefore, photocatalysts of semiconductor nanoparticles are expected to be effectively photoexcited only when the distance between metal and semiconductor nanoparticles is appropriately adjusted.

Ho et al. investigated the plasmonic response of Au/TiO<sub>2</sub>-dumbbell-on-Au-film nanocavities and explore the physical mechanism of dumbbell-film coupling mediated hot-carrier generation and transfer at the two TiO2-Au interfaces, as shown in Figure 1.11 [37]. From Figure 1.11a, hot carriers can be generated only through localized SPR excitation in the Au NR in the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub>/ITO system. However, both localized SPR excitation in the Au NR and direct optical excitation of d-band transitions in the Au film can induce hot carriers in the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub>/Au system. The dual-channel carrier generation mechanism associated with the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub>/Au system leads to an intriguing carrier transport process, as illustrated in Figure 1.11b. FDTD Solutions was applied to investigate their extinction response and electric near-field distribution profile of the longitudinal and transverse resonance modes for the two systems, as displayed in Figure 1.11c,d. Compared to the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> dumbbell on the ITO substrate, the longitudinal localized SPR of the Au-film-coupled nanocavity exhibits a linewidth shrinking. Moreover, the extinction intensity of the two resonance modes in the Au-film-coupled nanocavities is obviously enhanced compared to that for the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> dumbbells on ITO, which is originated from the plasmonic coupling between the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> dumbbell and the Au film. They found that Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> dumbbell nanostructures assembled on a thin Au film serve as an efficient optical absorber and a hot-carrier generator in the visible region. Upon excitation of LSPs in such coupled particle-on-film nanocavities, the energetic conduction electrons in Au can be injected over the Au/TiO<sub>2</sub> Schottky barrier and migrated to TiO<sub>2</sub>, participating in the chemical reaction occurring at the TiO<sub>2</sub> surface.

Plasmonic enhancement has also been demonstrated in photocatalytic methane formation by the reduction of  $CO_2$  with  $H_2O$ . Usually, photocatalytic  $CO_2$  reduction is a more challenging problem than solar water splitting due to its requirement of conduction band edge, additional photovoltage, and multielectron process. Similar work was carried out by Hou et al. They found the quantum efficiency to be greatly



**Figure 1.11** (a) Pictorial sketch of the hot-carrier generation in an  $Au/TiO_2$ -dumbbell-on-Au-film nanocavity through both localized SPR excitation and d-band transitions. (b) Schematic band diagram for an  $Au/TiO_2$ -dumbbell-on-Au-film nanocavity, illustrating the pathways of hot-carrier excitation and injection. The work function of Au, and affinity of TiO<sub>2</sub> are indicated in the band diagram. Simulated extinction spectra of an  $Au/TiO_2$  dumbbell nanoparticle with experimentally determined geometrical dimensions on a 100 nm thick Au film (red lines) and on a semi-infinite ITO substrate (blue lines): (c) the incident E-field is parallel to the x-axis and (d) parallel to the y-axis both under normal incidence. Each inset shows corresponding excitation configuration and simulated electric near-field distribution profiles at the resonance wavelengths as labeled by the arrows. Source: Reproduced from Ho et al. [37]/with permission of John Wiley & Sons.

improved by integrating Au nanoparticles with  $\text{TiO}_2$  when the photon energy (532 nm) matches the plasmon resonance of the Au nanoparticles [38]. To obtain a more rigorous understanding of the mechanism of catalytic enhancement, they performed numerical simulations of the charge and electric potential distributions at the Au nanoparticle- $\text{TiO}_2$  interface under plasmon resonance excitation. The electromagnetic response of the film was dominated by local hot spots where the electric field intensity reaches 1000 times that of the incident electric field at the  $\text{TiO}_2$  surface. They also found that the plasmon-excited electrons in the Au nanoparticles cannot transfer directly from the Au to the  $\text{TiO}_2$ . Only when the photon energy is high enough to excite the d band electrons of Au to a conduction band that lies above the conduction band of  $\text{TiO}_2$ , does direct charge transfer occur between these two materials. When the incident photon energy is high enough (254 nm in UV region), an additional mechanism involving the interband electric